THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
Court of General Sessions

RECEIVED

MAY 03 2017

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge **SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001387

The State, Respondent,

v.

Suzanna Brown Simpson, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
Counsel for Appellant

Suzanna Brown Simpson, 00368727
Leath Correctional Institution
2809 Airport Road
Greenwood, SC 29649

Respectfully submitted,



J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
Counsel for Appellant

May 1, 2017.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) Did the trial court err in admitting forensic testimony of the state's expert witness?
- 2) Did the trial court err in excluding testimony of the defense expert?
- 3) Did the trial court err in refusing to direct a verdict for the defendant or grant a new trial?
- 4) Did the trial court err in admitting forensic testimony where state expert was not qualified as an forensic expert?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was indicted for the murder of her two children, and the attempted murder of her husband along with being in possession of a weapon during a violent crime. The Appellant proceeded to a jury trial in Pickens County on June 20, 2016. At trial the Appellant was represented by John Mauldin, Public Defender, Teal Johnson, and Jacob Goldstein of the Public Defender's Office. The State was represented by Walter Wilkins, Solicitor and Betty C. Strom, Deputy Solicitor, for the 13th Judicial Circuit. The case was tried before a jury, the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, presiding. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all charges and the Appellant was sentenced to the maximum possible sentence on the charges, two life sentences, a thirty year sentence and a five year sentence, all consecutive. The Appellant timely appealed and J. Falkner Wilkes substituted as counsel for the Appellant. This brief follows:

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant was charged with attempted murder of her husband and the murder of her two children, ages five and seven. The Appellant did not contest that she shot her husband and children. 173. Appellant defended on the basis of her inability to tell right from wrong at the time of the incident. 174. The incident occurred at approximately 4:00 a.m. on May 14, 2013. 384.

On the day before the incident Nathan Stegall, a friend of the defendant's husband, came over to borrow a car while the defendant's husband was at work. He had a short conversation with the defendant. Stegall said that he "could tell she was highly agitated." 330, l. 25. Stegall borrowed a truck and left. At 9:11 p.m. that night he received a text message from the defendant that said "Hell on Earth?" 334. Stegall testified that out of all the time that he had known the defendant this was the only text he had ever received from her and thought it very odd 337.

Kevin Sanders' son and the defendant's daughter attended the same school. The day before the incident Mr. Sanders was in the school office and recalled overhearing the defendant telling her son that she was signing out his sister because he was sick, to which the boy responded "I'm not sick, Mom." 339-340. Sanders characterized her behavior that day as odd. While

waiting for her daughter to come to the office the defendant was walking back and forth, real impatient. 342. Then when leaving, the defendant heard Sanders say something to his child and mistakenly believed that he had been speaking to her. The defendant around angrily and said, "What did you say to me?" 343. Sanders said that "something just didn't feel right" about the defendant's actions. 344. Sanders said that the defendant was acting very strangely. 345-346.

The defendant's mother-in-law, Alison Simpson, testified to the defendant's commitment to an in-patient mental health facility about a year before the incident, and that after the commitment she had openly questioned the defendant's ability to care for the children and whether she would ever hurt them. 352. Alison Simpson said that on the day before the incident the defendant had called and asked her about why she didn't come to the house as much. 354. The end of the call was bizarre with the defendant saying, "I just wanted to say hello." 354. Simpson testified to another bizarre conversation with the defendant just after she was released from inpatient psychiatric care. 358.

The defendant's mother Susan Brown testified about the defendant's history of mental health problems and her behavior leading up to her

hospitalization at St. Francis Hospital and the Carolina Center about ten months prior to the incident. She said that during a drive to Asheville the defendant was not making sense, nothing connected, talking about friends that she had talked to that had somebody else's voices coming out of their mouth. 369-370. Brown testified that the defendant later called her around midnight saying to turn the lights on because her house wasn't safe. 371. Brown said that the defendant did not even sound like herself in the phone call. 371. They took her to the emergency room and she was committed based on the psychotic episode. 372-373. Brown said that the defendant thought she was being followed, watched, her phones bugged, and that she was being watched through her ceiling fan. 374.

On the day before the incident, Brown indicated that the defendant wasn't quite herself when they went out to dinner for Mother's Day. 376; Def. Ex. 11, 12 13. Brown said that the defendant was just sitting and staring and wouldn't eat dinner. 378.

On the day of the incident Brown had several conversations with the defendant. 364. The defendant called her around 10:30 in the morning and asked one "very bizarre" question: "Did you and dad really want me?" 364, l. 10-12. About noon the defendant called a second time and asked another

"very bizarre" question about deceased family members being better off in heaven. R. 364. Brown testified that the defendant's tone was so strange that it almost didn't sound like herself. 364. Brown responded to the defendant's question about family members better off in heaven that they were because they had suffered so much. 364. Then around 1:30 in the afternoon the defendant called back and "was talking very fast, nonstop about the evils of the world and how you couldn't protect yourself, you couldn't protect your children from the evils of this world." 365, l. 14-18. At 5:45 that evening the defendant called Brown again and said that the defendant sounded so happy. 365-366. Then at 8:45 p.m., just hours before the incident, the defendant called back and sounded as sad and low as she had been happy hours earlier. 366. In that last conversation the defendant told her mother that she couldn't take care of the kids anymore. 367. In addition to the very bizarre nature of the calls Brown testified that it was very unusual for her to get so many calls from the defendant in one day. 367.

Dr. Leonard Mulbry, Jr., M.D., was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry. 433. Mulbry reviewed the defendant's extensive medical, psychiatric and associated records. 435. He met with the defendant on three different occasions as part of his forensic evaluation. 35. Dr. Mulbry diagnosed

the defendant with schizoaffective disorder bipolar type, the typical symptoms for which can include long periods of very severe depression and high rates of suicide. 437-438. Mulbry testified that this also includes mania where the mind races, irritability, and the inability to think clearly because thoughts don't link very well which can result in a person not sleeping for a week or more at a time. 439. Mulbry testified that his review of records showed that the defendant had been treated for bipolar disorder for a long time. 439. Mulbry explained schizophrenia which involves the marked loss of reality. 439. Symptoms include hearing things that aren't there. 439. Symptoms also include paranoia, inability to link thoughts, and the inability to complete a sentence or thought. 439. Dr. Mulbry testified that the defendant suffered a major decline in mental health beginning in 2010. 444. In 2012 the defendant was committed to in-patient psychiatric treatment by St. Francis Hospital emergency room staff. At that time the defendant was found to be psychotically paranoid. 445. Dr. Mulbry testified that there is no cure for the defendant's condition. 447. Dr. Mulbry indicated that the photo taken of the defendant the day before the incident at the Mother's Day dinner showed a typical appearance for someone distracted and fearful from paranoia. Def. Ex. 11;12;13. Based on an extensive forensic review of the defendant's records,

Dr. Mulbry opined that at the time of the incident the defendant was unable to tell moral and legal right from wrong. 448.

Dr. David Price, PhD., was qualified as an expert in forensic psychology, clinical psychology, and neuropsychology. 492. Dr. Price reviewed thousands of pages of medical history for the defendant and met with her on nine different occasions. 496. Dr. Price also interviewed the defendant's parents, and her treatment providers, including Dr. Jeffrey Smith. 497. Dr. Price diagnosed the defendant with schizoaffective disorder bipolar type. 506. After an exhaustive forensic review, Dr. Price opined that at the time of the incident the defendant did not know legal and moral right from wrong. 497. Dr. Price testified that he had no question about her psychosis, delusions, or paranoia, and that she was acting under the presence of a significant delusion at the time of the incident. 498.

Dr. Richard Lesense Frierson, M.D., was qualified as an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry. 520. On the motion of the State Dr. Frierson was appointed by the court to perform an evaluation of the defendant. Dr. Frierson did an extensive evaluation, reviewed records, interviewed family member, interviewed the ER physician that treated the defendant after the incident, and met with the defendant three times. He also diagnosed the defendant

with schizoaffective disorder bipolar type. 526. His diagnosis was wholly independent of the diagnosis of the other two defense experts. 527. Frierson explained that the defendant suffered from delusions which he defined as fixed false beliefs and psychosis which he defined as "out of touch with reality". 528-529. Dr. Frierson opined that the defendant was, due to mental illness, unable to distinguish legal or moral right from legal or moral wrong at the time of the incident. 532. Dr. Frierson related the defendant's paranoid delusional thought that hell had come to earth to the text message the defendant sent to Nate Stegall the day before the incident. 532. Def. Ex. 10. Dr. Frierson has conducted over a thousand evaluations for criminal responsibility. 549. Dr. Frierson testified that the defendant was not criminally responsible for her actions when she shot her family. 550.

In reply, and over the discovery violation objection by the defense, the State offered surprise forensic testimony by Dr. Jeffrey K. Smith, M.D. Dr. Smith was the defendant's treating physician leading up to the date of the incident. Dr. Smith last saw the defendant clinically three months prior to the incident, and then for only 8 minutes. 667-678; 683. Dr. Smith's average appointment with the defendant lasted 7.4 minutes. 683-684. Dr. Smith was qualified as an expert in psychiatry. 640. The state chose not to offer Smith as

an expert in forensic psychiatry, stating that it would not be able to have him qualified in forensic psychiatry. 569, l. 1-2. Dr. Smith believed that the defendant had stabilized around that time but admitted in his testimony that he was obviously wrong. 667. Smith admitted that his own records indicated that the defendant suffered from psychosis on at least three occasions. 670. Throughout his treatment Smith had the defendant on various antipsychotic drugs. 672. Smith admitted that during her treatment the defendant's condition would destabilize when she would stop taking medications which resulted in mood swings and recurrence of paranoia. 674. During Smith's treatment the defendant had the psychotic episode that caused her to be committed for psychiatric by the emergency room at St. Francis Hospital. 674. Smith's records indicate that on the appointment immediately following the defendant's release from her commitment in Carolina Behavioral Center he saw the defendant for eight minutes for her August 16, 2012. 677-678. Over the course of his treatment of the defendant the average time spent with the defendant was 7.4 minutes. 683.

In preparing to testify for the State Dr. Smith never reviewed witness statements, police reports, supplemental reports, EMS reports, 911 phone calls. 664. Dr. Smith never met with any of the family members, Michael

Simpson, the defendant's parents, the defendant's in-laws. 665; 667. Over the objection of the defense Smith gave a forensic opinion that the defendant knew right from wrong but was unable to conform her conduct to the behavior of the law. 656.

The defense objected to the testimony of Dr. Smith based on a lack of prior notice to the defense required by Rule 5, Brady and due process. 82-85; 93; 397-398; 567; 573-580. Based on Fourth Amendment grounds, HIPAA, and state privacy laws pertaining to mental health records the defense further objected to any forensic testimony by Dr. Smith. 574-584; Def Ex. 16. The defense also sought to suppress any forensic testimony that was based on his review of the defendant's mental health records illegally seized by SLED. 574-584; Def Ex. 16. Those records, which Dr. Smith admitted that he had never seen before, were provided to him by the solicitor just prior to trial to allow Dr. Smith to give forensic testimony. 624. The court expressly refused to make any findings as to the SLED's seizure of the defendant's records or make a clear ruling on the issue. 598.

(Additional facts included in the argument section)

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING FORENSIC TESTIMONY OF THE STATE'S EXPERT WITNESS.

A. The Court Erred in Allowing the Testimony of State Expert Despite Discovery Violations under Rule 5 and Brady.

At the beginning of the trial, when the defense first learned that Dr. Jeffrey K. Smith might be offered as witness by the State. Dr. Smith was the Appellant's treating physician for approximately three years leading up to the incident but had not seen the defendant for three months prior to the incident, and then for only about eight minutes. Although the defense was aware of who Dr. Smith was, it had no notice that he had conducted a forensic evaluation or that he would be offered to give a forensic opinion as to sanity at the time of the incident. The defense therefore objected to Smith being qualified or allowed to testify as a forensic expert. After extensive arguments the State subsequently offered Dr. Smith only as an expert in psychiatry, with the solicitor admitting that he didn't think he could have Dr. Smith qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry. Accordingly the court qualified Dr. Smith only as an expert in psychiatry.

There is no question that the State failed to disclose to the defense prior to trial that it would offer Dr. Smith as an expert, or that he would be asked to

give forensic testimony based on documents (medical records) obtained by SLED that belonged to the Appellant. Pursuant to Rule 5, and as a matter of due process, the defendant objected to the State's failure to provide notice of Dr. Smith as a forensic expert, or the substance of his testimony which clearly was the result of an undisclosed forensic evaluation. 81-89. The defense objected repeatedly throughout the trial to the State's use of Dr. Smith as an undisclosed forensic expert. 85; 398.

The record shows that the State's failure to disclose the substance of Dr. Smith's testimony was entirely intentional. In the State's reply to the defense's initial objection the solicitor specifically said: "I don't want to tell the defense." 108. Yet as the State's expert, Dr. Smith was ultimately asked by the state to testify to matters clearly the subject of Rule 5. Timely disclosure to the defense prior to trial was therefore required.

In his testimony, Dr. Smith testified to the contents of the defendant's mental health records. Dr. Smith's testimony covered not only his own records, as one of the defendant's prior treating physicians, but also to the content of records from other mental health providers which were obtained by SLED and provided by the solicitor to Dr. Smith to review. 653-653; 584. Even though those documents were not introduced as exhibits, the content nd

substance of the records were put to the jury through Dr. Smith's testimony. 652-653. Accordingly, the State was required to disclose to the defense any documents from which that the State intended to have Dr. Smith testify.

Rule 5 provides:

Upon request of the defendant the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy books, papers, *documents*, photographs, tangible objects, buildings or places, or copies or portions thereof, *which are within the possession, custody or control of the prosecution*, and which are *material to the preparation of his defense* or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial, or were obtained from or *belong to the defendant*.

Rule 5(a)(1)(C). Disclosure of Evidence by the Prosecution, Information Subject to Disclosure, Documents and Tangible Objects. *emphasis added*.

Here the mental health records at issue belonged to the defendant, were in the possession of the prosecution, and material to the preparation of the defense. They were therefore required to be disclosed to the defense. The defense made a proper request for the disclosure of any such documents and timely objected when it learned at trial that the State might offer testimony as to those documents despite a lack of any prior notice to the defense. Disc Motion; 85; 398.

In addition to the failure to give prior notice of medical records seized by SLED that belonged to the defendant, the prosecution further failed to

disclose the forensic mental examination conducted by Dr. Smith based on those records. Rule 5 provides:

Upon request of a defendant the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy any *results* or reports of physical or *mental examinations*, and of scientific tests or experiments, or copies thereof, which are *within the possession, custody, or control of the prosecution*, the existence of which is known, or by the exercise of due diligence may become known, to the attorney for the prosecution, and which are *material to the preparation of the defense* or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial.

Rule 5(1)(D) Reports of examinations and tests.

Over the defense objection the court also allowed Dr. Smith to give a forensic opinion that the Appellant knew the difference between right and wrong, thus negating the Appellant's defense of insanity. 632. Since Dr. Smith had not seen the defendant for three months prior to the incident, and then for only eight minutes, Dr. Smith's testimony was necessarily based on his review of records that were obtained by SLED and provided to him by the solicitor to enable him to give forensic testimony at trial.

Although Dr. Smith had a dual role being a fact witness, he also became the State's forensic expert when asked to review the defendant's records from other providers and opine on the issue of sanity. Dr. Smith's pre-trial review of the records of other providers, including Carolina Center for Behavioral

Health and St. Francis Hospital, constituted a forensic mental evaluation of the defendant. 641-656. This is obvious as Dr. Smith admitted that he had never seen the records before they were provided to him by the solicitor. 624. Using these records Dr. Smith gave forensic testimony, including his opinion that the defendant knew the difference between right and wrong *at the time of the incident*. 656. As this testimony was clearly based on a forensic mental examination or evaluation of the defendant through her medical records, it was discoverable under Rule 5 and Brady.

“The requirements of Rule 5, as opposed to the constitutional dictates of Brady, are judicially created discovery mechanisms for use in criminal proceedings.” State v. Proctor, 348 S.C. 322, 330, 559 S.E.2d 318, 322 (Ct.App.2001), *rev'd on other grounds*, 358 S.C. 424, 595 S.E.2d 480 (2004). Despite the different underpinnings of Brady and Rule 5, each has the same goal of ensuring the criminal defendant's right to a fair trial. Neither is designed “to displace the adversary system as the primary means by which truth is uncovered, but [rather] to ensure that a miscarriage of justice does not occur.” Bagley, 473 U.S. at 675, 105 S.Ct. 3375. Furthermore, “the prosecutor's role transcends that of an adversary [because] he ‘is the representative not of an ordinary party to a controversy, but of a sovereignty

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