ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SUZANNA BROWN SIMPSON,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2016-001387

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 68383

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Circuit
305 East North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

In the instant case, Dr. Smith reviewed the following information: 1) Dr. Smith's own clinical notes from Appellant's 34 visits; 2) the treatment notes of the emergency admission to St. Francis hospital in 2012, provided by the State; 3) the treatment notes of Appellant's subsequent admission to the Carolina Behavioral Health Center in 2012, provided to him as a matter of practice because he was her treating psychiatrist; 3); the emergency room notes of Dr. Harris, provided by State; and 4) the reports of Dr. Frierson, the court appointed psychiatrist, and Dr. Price, the defense retained expert, provided to him by the defense's expert. (R. p. 563, line 18 – p. 564, line 10.) The documents provided by the State, Appellant's emergency room notes in 2012 and the day of the shootings, were provided by the State after Dr. Smith was subpoenaed in the days before the trial. (R. p. 562, lines 1-9, p. 605, lines 13-24.) Further, Dr. Smith was not subpoenaed until after he discussed Appellant's case with Dr. Price. (R. p. 565, lines 3-14.) Dr. Smith denied he received any records from SLED in his review of Appellant's case. (R. p. 566, lines 16-21.) In sum, Dr. Smith did not review Appellant's St. Francis and emergency room records, the only documents provided by the State, until long after Appellant submitted those same records to her own experts and the court appointed expert.

Appellant argues the State was required to disclose the basis of Dr. Smith's opinion, pursuant to Rule 5 and *Brady*, but the law does not support this contention. Rule 5 does not obligate the solicitor to notify the defendant of the substance of the expert's testimony, particularly when the expert is relying on information within Appellant's possession. Further, the record does not reflect that Appellant requested the State provide copies of her own medical information in accordance with Rule 5, presumably because Appellant already had that information within her control. Instead, Appellant argues the State was required to disclose whether Dr. Smith took her medical records into consideration. However, even if the State had

disclosed the entire basis for Dr. Smith's opinion, upon Appellant's request, the disclosure still would not have informed Appellant of Dr. Smith's opinion.

Further, Appellant cannot show she was prejudiced by the State's failure to disclose the basis for Dr. Smith's opinion. Determining whether evidence withheld by the state should have been disclosed under *Brady* turns on whether the cumulative effect of the withheld evidence results in a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *State v. Hill*, 368 S.C. 649, 661, 630 S.E.2d 274, 280 (2006) (citing *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 433 (1995)). The information in Appellant's medical records was clearly within the possession of Appellant. Her witnesses presented that information to the jury. She cannot show that had she known Dr. Smith would base his opinion on that information, she would have changed the proceedings at trial and opted not to call her defense experts.

In sum, although the State was not required to turn over the information prior to trial, Appellant's counsel was well aware of the possible expert testimony available for reply by the State. The solicitor committed no discovery violations for failing to disclose the basis for Dr. Smith's opinion, particularly when that basis was the same information presented to the defense witnesses.

b) Appellant waived her privacy interest in her mental health records when she consented to the disclosure of the medical records to her experts and opened the door to her mental health by placing it at issue before the jury.

Appellant opened the door to the disclosure of the privileged information within her medical records when she raised the defense of insanity. The Court implicitly found she waived the statutorily protected information when he ordered the appointment of a psychiatrist to

examine Appellant following notice of her defense of insanity, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-22-90(A)(4) and §44-22-100 (A)(2). Later, at trial the Court again found Appellant waived her confidential communications with her treating physician by presenting that evidence to the jury through the testimony of the defense experts, pursuant to S.C. Code §19-11-95. Even if the trial court erred in making such a finding, there can be no prejudice when Appellant relied on these records and the testimony of corroborating witnesses in presenting her case to the jury. Because Appellant waived her claim of privilege in her records and her confidences to her treating physician, Appellant's argument SLED obtained her records improperly had no bearing on the issue before the trial court.

Two things are evident from the record: 1) SLED submitted a form requesting medical information from Appellant's providers and the form cited an inapplicable state statute,² and 2) the solicitor's office was unaware of the document submitted by SLED to Appellant's providers. (R. pp. 516-526.) What is not clear from the record is whether the hospitals complied with the request in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95, whether SLED obtained the records via warrant or other means at a later time, or whether the hospitals complied with the request from SLED only after consulting Appellant's signed release to her defense attorneys. Appellant made no request for a suppression hearing, no records custodian from the hospital testified about when the documents were disclosed, and no representative from SLED testified about how the information ultimately came into its possession. The trial court specifically refrained from

² The Child Fatality Unit with SLED is empowered to "expeditiously investigate child deaths in all counties of the State" in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §63-11-1940. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-11-1960 authorizes the unit to obtain the medical records of a child whose death is being reviewed by the department. Here, SLED did not request the children's records, but Appellant's.

making a finding on that issue undoubtedly because the evidence before the court supporting Appellant's claim was inadequate to make that determination. (R. p. 541, lines 18-24.)

However, the trial court did find Appellant waived her privilege to protect her medical information by disclosing the information to her own experts, then calling those experts to testify to the contents at trial:

All right. First of all, after considering all arguments of counsel, I am going to allow the State to present reply evidence. I believe the statutory scheme is clear.

Again, I make this decision taking seriously into consideration the defendant's position of fundamental due process possible violation with the way the statutory scheme is drafted of burden shifting. Okay. I understand that 100 percent. But I'm constrained by the arguments and by fundamental fairness both -- well, to the State as well to allow the reply testimony.

All right. Having considered -- having ruled that I am going to allow the reply testimony, I specifically find for the record that the privilege, if -- the privilege that Ms. Simpson would have had with the doctor that's going to be testifying for the State has been waived.

(R. p. 540, line 21- p. 541, line 7-17.)

The court's finding that Appellant's mental health record was necessary for the conduct of the proceedings, both prior to trial and following the defense's case, were supported once Appellant opened the door to her mental health by claiming an insanity defense. The State became entitled to Appellant's mental health records from her admission to St. Francis in 2012 and her emergency room records when the trial court ordered the appointment of a psychiatrist to examine Appellant. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-22-90 (A)(4)(allowing disclosure of information related through the course of a court-ordered psychiatric examination); *and* S.C. Code Ann. § 4-22-100 (A)(2) ("mental health records may be disclosed when a court directs that disclosure is necessary for the conduct of proceedings before the court and that failure to make the disclosure is contrary to public interest.") Further, S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95 (D) (mandating disclosure by court order when the patient's mental illness are reasonably at issue in a proceeding) authorized the trial court to find Appellant waived her confidences in Dr. Smith. In allowing Dr. Smith to

testify, the trial court found Appellant placed the issue of her mental health squarely before the jury.

The concept of waiver by opening the door to mental health claims has been explored in our common law. For example, the Supreme Court has found where insanity is interposed as a defense in a criminal prosecution, compulsory examination of the accused by experts for the purpose of determining his mental condition does not violate either the constitutional protection against self-incrimination or the constitutional guaranty of due process of law. *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 364, 535 S.E.2d 420, 426 (2000) (citing *State v. Myers*, 220 S.C. 309, 67 S.E.2d 506 (1951)). Although Locklair claimed an unlawful intrusion into his constitutional right to due process, the Court found he waived that right with the nature of his defense. Similarly, in *State v. Bixby*, the defendant informed the court before his capital trial that he intended to present mitigation evidence concerning his mental health. *Bixby*, 388 S.C. 528, 557, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010). The court then ordered a mental health evaluation. *Id.* Bixby argued the compulsory mental health evaluation violated his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. The Supreme Court disagreed, finding Bixby opened the door to his mental health issues. *Id.* at 559, 698 S.E.2d at 588. Applying the logic of *Locklair* and *Bixby*, if the defense can open the door to mental health issues, and thereby waive a constitutional protection, Appellant can certainly waive any statutory protection of her otherwise confidential communications with her treating physician.

With respect to the underlying mental health records, the Court has offered recent guidance in *State v. Blackwell*, 801 S.E.2d 713, 2017 WL 2350965, which was filed May 31, 2017, almost one year after Appellant's trial. In *Blackwell*, the South Carolina Supreme Court recognized the dearth of case law on this issue and outlined a new procedure for the disclosure of

privileged mental health records in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §44-22-100(A). Specifically, the Court addressed the circumstances in which the witness (patient) did not consent to the release of medical information, but a party sought access to the records by court order after a finding the disclosure necessary for “public interest.” *Blackwell*, 801 S.E.2d at 727; S.C. Code Ann. § 44-22-100 (A)(2). The Court said:

If the witness does not consent, the judge alone should review the contents of the records to determine whether “disclosure is necessary for the conduct of proceedings before the court and that failure to make the disclosure is contrary to public interest.” *Id.* § 44-22-100(A)(2). In making this determination, the judge should assess the importance of the witness to the prosecution's case and whether the records contain exculpatory evidence, including, but not limited to, evidence relevant to the witness's credibility.

Id. at 727-728 (emphasis added). Significantly, in *Blackwell*, the witness whose medical records were the subject of the opinion was not the defendant, but one of the victims of the defendant's crime. *Blackwell* murdered an eight year old child in front of the witness, then sought the witness's access to the mental health records of the therapist treating the victim after the murder. *Id.* at 725. Though the circumstances of the case at hand are vastly different, *Blackwell* is helpful because the Court recognized the policy interest in balancing the relevance of the mental health records to both the State's and the defense's cases. Of course, the trial court must make this determination only if the witness **does not consent**.

Intuitively understanding this rationale, the trial court in Appellant's case found Appellant constructively consented to the release of her medical records when she raised insanity as a defense and turned over her information to defense experts. In his reasoning, the court also performed the kind of balancing test outlined in *Blackwell* in noting, as a matter of “fundamental fairness,” Appellant used the records “to help establish her defense” and “opened the door” for the State to use the evidence. (R. p. 541, lines 5-16.)

Other jurisdictions state this rationale more precisely. In Washington, a defendant who raises the insanity defense has “abandoned his right of medical privacy and waived the statutory physician-patient privilege as to any medical testimony which tends to contradict or impeach his medical evidence.” *State v. Brewton*, 744 P.2d 646, 647 (1987) (the “assertion of a privilege would deprive the State, and ultimately the jury, of important evidence on that issue.”) Confidentiality remains important, but a patient who could select among various physicians’ opinions, and claim privilege as to the remainder, would make a mockery of justice. *State v. Tradewell*, 515 P.2d 172, (1973). Iowa and California have recognized the absurdity of a rule recognizing the privilege in such cases, and have required disclosure. *See e.g., State v. Cole*, 295 N.W.2d 29, 35 (IA, 1980) and *People v. Arcega*, 651 P.2d 338, 348 n. 8, (Ca. 1982) (referring to a statutory exception to the physician-patient privilege for patients who place their medical condition in issue.)

Although in South Carolina, *Locklair*, *Bixby*, and *Blackwell* did not confront this exact issue, South Carolina’s rules of discovery and statutory framework for disclosure support this policy. Rule 705, SCRE allows a party to require the disclosure of the underlying facts or data supporting an expert opinion. The South Carolina Court of Appeals confronted the admissibility of protected information under this rule in *State v. Slocumb*, 366 S.C. 619, 521 S.E.2d 507 (1999). In *Slocumb*, the Court discussed the disclosure of otherwise inadmissible evidence of prior bad acts referenced in a psychiatric report when the defendant put his mental health at issue by raising an insanity defense to a criminal sexual conduct charge. *Slocumb* sought to restrict the cross examination of his own defense expert when the State tried to cross-examine the expert on an inconsistent juvenile mental health assessment considered, but disregarded, by the expert.

The Court found the earlier assessment, which addressed Slocumb's prior bad acts, would ordinarily be inadmissible as prejudicial. The Court cited Rule 705, SCRE, and reasoned:

The State's cross-examination focused on establishing that Slocumb was sane, and the records were directly related to an evaluation of Slocumb's state of mind. Furthermore, the State in its case-in-chief did not refer to these incident reports nor did it attempt to admit Slocumb's prior criminal sexual conduct conviction for which he was incarcerated at DJJ. *See State v. Faulkner*, 274 S.C. 619, 266 S.E.2d 420 (1980) (Although the State may not attack a criminal defendant's character unless he or she places it in issue, relevant evidence properly admissible for other purposes need not be excluded merely because it incidentally reflects on his or her character.)

State, at 632–33, 521 S.E.2d at 514. In other words, a defendant who seeks to claim mental incapacity may open the door to otherwise inadmissible content within those records.

Finally, Appellant can show no prejudice from the trial court's decision to allow Dr. Smith's testimony based on her underlying mental health records from other facilities. Appellant called three expert witnesses, Dr. Frierson, Dr. Mulbry, and Dr. Price, to testify about their opinions of her mental health after reviewing her records from Dr. Smith. The defense experts explained to the jury the portions of Dr. Smith's records they found relevant to their opinions. Appellant cannot show how Dr. Smith revealed information to the jury that was not previously revealed through the defense witnesses. Any error in allowing Dr. Smith's testimony about these records was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Terry*, 339 S.C. 352, 360, 529 S.E.2d 274, 278 (2000)(when a defendant offers protected medical records as mitigation evidence, he cannot claim prejudice from the disclosure of the records pursuant to §44-22-100).

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